The Senate

Standing Committee on Employment, Workplace Relations and Education

Safety, Rehabilitation and Compensation and Other Legislation Amendment Bill 2006 [Provisions]

February 2007

© Commonwealth of Australia

ISBN 978-0-642-71771-9

This document was produced by the Senate Employment, Workplace Relations and Education Legislation Committee and printed by the Senate Printing Unit, Department of the Senate, Parliament House, Canberra.

# Membership of the Committee

#### **Members**

Senator Judith Troeth	LP, Victoria	Chair
Senator Gavin Marshall	ALP, Victoria	Deputy Chair
Senator Guy Barnett	LP, Tasmania	
Senator George Campbell	ALP, New South Wales	
Senator Mitch Fifield	LP, Victoria	
Senator Ross Lightfoot	LP, Western Australia	
Senator Anne McEwen	ALP, South Australia	
Senator Natasha Stott Despoja	AD, South Australia	

#### **Participating Senators**

Senator Andrew Murray	AD, Western Australia
Senator Russell Trood	LP, Queensland

Secretariat Mr John Carter, Secretary Ms Monika Sheppard, Senior Research Officer Ms Candice Lester, Executive Assistant Senate Employment, Workplace Relations and Education Legislation Committee Secretariat Department of the Senate PO Box 6100 Parliament House Canberra ACT 2600 02 6277 3520 Phone: Fax: 02 6277 5706 E-mail: eet.sen@aph.gov.au www.aph.gov.au/senate\_employment Internet:

# **Table of Contents**

Membership of the Committeeiii		
Chapter 1	1	
Introduction	1	
Reference of the bill	1	
Purpose of the bill	1	
Submissions	1	
Acknowledgment	2	
Note on references	2	
Chapter 2	3	
Government Senators' Report	3	
'Disease' and 'injury'	3	
The new definitions	4	
Maintaining viability	5	
Excluding travel to and from work	5	
Restricting cover for recesses and absences	7	
Adjusting the weekly incapacity benefit	7	
Increasing funeral benefits	7	
Correlating the weekly incapacity and superannuation benefits	8	
Calculating compensation	8	
Directly paying medical providers	9	
'Suitable employment'	9	
Providing rehabilitation services	9	
Consultations10	0	
Chapter 31	1	
Opposition Senators' Report1	1	

Financial viability	
Lack of 'savings'	13
Key terms re-defined	14
Lack of clarity	
Non coverage of journey claims	19
Physical activity	22
Off site recess breaks	23
Notional superannuation contributions	26
'Suitable employment'	
Lack of consultation	
Conclusion	29
Appendix 1	31
List of submissions	31
Appendix 2	34
Hearing and witnesses	34

vi

# Chapter 1

# Introduction

# **Reference of the bill**

1.1 On 7 December 2006 the Safety, Rehabilitation and Compensation and Other Legislation Amendment Bill 2006 (the bill) was referred to the Employment, Workplace Relations and Education Committee for inquiry and report by 20 February 2007.

# **Purpose of the bill**

1.2 The object of the bill is to amend the Safety, Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1988 (the Act) to maintain the financial viability of the Commonwealth Workers Compensation Scheme (the scheme). The scheme has come under growing pressure from increasing numbers of accepted claims, longer average claims duration and higher claim costs.

1.3 The scheme covers Commonwealth employees (except members of the Australian Defence Force, who are covered by separate legislation), Australian Capital Territory public service employees and employees of certain private-sector corporations who self insure under the scheme.

1.4 The bill will also improve the administration and provision of benefits and amend the funeral benefit provisions of the Military Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 2004 (MRC Act) to maintain parity with benefits under the Act.<sup>1</sup>

# Submissions

1.5 The committee advertised the inquiry in *The Australian* newspaper on 12 December 2006, and invited submissions by 22 January 2007. Details of the inquiry, the bill, and associated documents were placed on the committee's website. The committee also contacted 15 organisations.

1.6 The committee received 28 submissions which are listed at Appendix 1. Submissions were placed on the committee's website for ease of access by the public.

1.7 The committee held public hearings in Melbourne on 30 January 2007 and 31 January 2007 and in Canberra on 8 February 2007. A list of witnesses who appeared

<sup>1</sup> Hon. Kevin Andrews MP, Minister for Employment and Workplace Relations, *House of Representatives Hansard*, 30 November 2006, p. 3 and Explanatory Memorandum, p. 2.

at the hearing is at Appendix 2 and copies of the Hansard transcript are available through the Internet at http://aph.gov.au/hansard.

# Acknowledgment

1.8 The committee thanks those organisations and individuals who made submissions and gave evidence at the public hearing.

# Note on references

1.9 References in this report are to individual submissions as received by the committee, not to a bound volume. References to the committee Hansard are to the proof Hansard: page numbers may vary between the proof and the official Hansard Script.

# Chapter 2

# **Government Senators' Report**

2.1 The original purpose of the Safety, Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1988 (the Act) was to establish a scheme of compensation and rehabilitation for persons who were injured in the course of their employment by the Commonwealth (the scheme). The scheme was intended to minimise the human and financial cost of work-caused injury and disease, while simultaneously providing adequate compensation and support for long-term incapacitated employees.<sup>1</sup>

2.2 Recently, however, the legislative objectives of the Act have been increasingly hindered by what can now be regarded as outmoded applications of the scheme and its excessively generous terms. These problems have arisen primarily as a result of the courts' interpretation of two key terms within the Act: 'disease' and 'injury'. The broad reading of the Act by the courts has resulted in Commonwealth employees receiving compensation benefits anomalously out of line with employees in the mainstream workforce.

# 'Disease' and 'injury'

2.3 The current definition of 'disease' requires an employee's work to have contributed in a 'material degree' to the contraction or aggravation of a compensable disease. 'Material degree' has been broadly interpreted so that the cause of the compensable injury, rather than the extent of the contribution, has been over-emphasised. As a result, employers are being held liable for medical conditions that are minimally work related.

2.4 The current definition of 'injury' is similarly problematic. It excludes medical conditions suffered by an employee as a result of 'reasonable disciplinary action' or failure to obtain a promotion, transfer or benefit in connection with the employee's work. This exclusion is being interpreted very narrowly and employees are thus encouraged to lodge compensation claims for injuries which are not specifically excluded by the Act and which might have resulted from what can loosely be described as legitimate management action. These provisions are in some instances exploited by the Act.

2.5 The committee cites the instance of the case *Canute v Commonwealth of Australia* [2005] FCA 299 where the Federal Court defined 'material degree' to mean

<sup>1</sup> Hon. B Howe MP, Minister for Social Security, *House of Representatives Hansard*, 27 April 1988, p. 2191.

'a close connection between employment and the disease'. Notwithstanding that this appears to uphold the legislative intention, the committee agrees that amending the Act would be preferable for the avoidance of all doubt.

# The new definitions

2.6 The bill amends 'disease' to mean an injury which was caused or aggravated by work to a *significant degree*. 'Significant degree' is defined as 'a degree that is substantially more than material' and specifies a number of factors which may be taken into consideration in making the necessary determination.<sup>2</sup>

2.7 In submissions to the inquiry, the use of subjective terms has been widely criticised. However, the words, 'significant', 'material' and even 'reasonable' have well known legal meaning. It is unlikely that a great deal of time and money will be spent debating or disputing the meaning of the new definitions.<sup>3</sup> This should ensure that fewer claims are lodged or disputed and result in reduced administrative and claims costs.

2.8 The committee notes that irrespective of interpretive issues, there is support for the reinvigorated approach. Telstra agreed that a clear nexus between disease and employment was an appropriate minimum benchmark.<sup>4</sup>

2.9 The approach adopted by the bill is not novel, being consistent with eligibility requirements in the majority of state workers compensation schemes (excepting the Northern Territory) and follows a recommendation in the Productivity Commission's 2004 report on *National Workers' Compensation and Occupational Health and Safety Frameworks* (the Productivity Commission Report).<sup>5</sup>

2.10 The meaning of 'injury' is also amended by the bill with the extension of the exclusionary provision. Any medical condition suffered by an employee as a result of a 'reasonable management action' will no longer fall within the ambit of the scheme. This is consistent with the broader exclusion for 'management actions taken reasonably' which are a feature of legislation in most jurisdictions across the country. The provision is accompanied by a broad but non-exhaustive list of administrative actions which will comprise 'reasonable management actions'. This amendment will prevent abuse of the scheme by employees dissatisfied with management decisions,

<sup>2</sup> Section 5B of the *Safety, Rehabilitation and Compensation and Other Legislation Amendment Bill 2006.* Examples of the discretionary factors include the duration of the employment, any predisposition of the employee to the disease, any activities of the employee not related to his or her employment, etc.

<sup>3</sup> Barbara Bennett, CEO, Comcare, *Committee Hansard*, 31 January 2007, p. 23.

<sup>4</sup> Telstra, *Submission 18*, p. 2. Also, see Australian air Express, *Submission 15*, p. 2.

<sup>5</sup> Productivity Commission, *National Workers' Compensation and Occupational Health and Safety Frameworks*, Report No. 27, June 2004.

and help to restrain administrative and claims costs. The provision is also designed to be flexible.

2.11 Australian air Express submitted:

Supervisors and Managers have a difficult job to do in an ever changing environment and to be held to ransom by employees, who have a contrary view to the employer, makes it very difficult for employers to carry on their business when workers can simply obtain a medical certificate and then lodge a claim for compensation.<sup>6</sup>

2.12 The re-defined key terms do not effect any fundamental changes to the Act; they clarify and reinstate the original objectives of the Act, which appear to have been distorted over time.

# Maintaining viability

2.13 The Act must strike a balance in the achievement of its objectives. The misinterpretation of legislative intention has created a current imbalance and the scheme has consequently come under increasing financial pressure. Premiums as compared nationally have been increasing by not insignificant margins. Over the past three years the premium rate has risen by 0.64 per cent, which is more significant than might appear. Disputation rates within the scheme are quite high at 25.1 per cent.<sup>7</sup>

2.14 The opposition has made much of the argument that the costs factor does not justify the amendments which are proposed in the bill. However, payments to claimants, medical and rehabilitation costs are not one off payments; they often continue over a considerable period, at a time when medical related expenses are rising faster than inflation. Taken out of isolation the current financial indicators paint a grim picture for the future of the scheme.

2.15 Government senators believe that the bill will bolster the viability of the scheme and ensure that genuine claimants to entitlements will be able to avail themselves of the statutory protections. Government senators reject the claim that employees will be unfairly disadvantaged by the provisions of the bill.

# **Excluding travel to and from work**

2.16 A number of submissions opposing the bill have identified the exclusion of claims resulting from injuries incurred during journeys to work. An injury to an employee is currently treated as having arisen out of, or in the course of, employment if it is sustained while the employee was travelling between his or her place of residence and work place. These injuries may result in considerable time off work and

<sup>6</sup> Australian air Express, *Submission 15*, p. 3.

<sup>7</sup> Australian Lawyers Alliance, *Submission 27*, p. 6.

are proportionately costlier than other types of injury.<sup>8</sup> Half the states and territories cover journey claims within their workers compensation schemes even though there is no obligation to provide such coverage.<sup>9</sup>

The Productivity Commission Report acknowledged that journeys to and from 2.17 work are a necessary corollary of employment but there are various aspects of such journeys over which an employer exercises no control.<sup>10</sup> The Productivity Commission recommended that coverage for journeys to and from work not be compensation schemes.<sup>11</sup> provided within workers The bill adopts the recommendation of the Productivity Commission but continues to provide cover for travel undertaken for the purpose of employment and at the direction or request of an employer.

2.18 The exclusion of journey claims does not mean that employees will have no remedy if they are injured while travelling to and from work.<sup>12</sup> Compulsory third party schemes exist precisely for this reason and it would be a cost-shifting exercise from the states and territories to the Commonwealth if employers were required to shoulder this responsibility.<sup>13</sup> There is also the option of a common law action and the bill enables Comcare to undertake litigation on behalf of injured employees. Government senators note that Comcare increasingly pursues and recovers litigation costs.

2.19 The provisions of the Act covering journey claims exceed employers' obligations under the *Occupational Health and Safety (Commonwealth Employment) Act 1991* (the OHS Act). The OHS Act does not regulate an employee's travel to and from his or her usual place of work. There is arguably no sound reason why employers should be obliged to compensate employees for injuries which are sustained neither in the course of employment, nor in relation to which employers are obliged to take reasonable precautionary measures.<sup>14</sup> Nor is there any good reason for continuing to follow this practice in relation to Commonwealth employees when the OHS Act does not mandate it for the mainstream workforce. This is particularly the case when the priority responsibility of the scheme is to apply its funding to compensate and

- 10 For example, the mode and nature of the journey and the location of the workers' residence relative to work.
- 11 Productivity Commission, *National Workers' Compensation and Occupational Health and Safety Frameworks*, Report No. 27, June 2004, p. 187.
- 12 Productivity Commission, *National Workers' Compensation and Occupational Health and* Safety Frameworks, Report No. 27, June 2004, pp 183-185 and p. 187
- 13 Australian air Express, *Submission 15*, p.3.
- 14 Explanatory Memorandum, p. 29. Also, see sub-section 16(1) of the Occupational Health and Safety (Commonwealth Employment) Act 1991.

<sup>8</sup> Telstra, Submission 18, p. 3. Also, see Australian air Express, Submission 15, p. 3

<sup>9</sup> The compensation schemes of Victoria, Western Australia, South Australia and Tasmania do not cover travel to and from work, whereas New South Wales, Queensland, the Australian Capital Territory and the Northern Territory compensation schemes do.

rehabilitate those who are injured in the course of what is clearly work-related activity. The bill will align the Act with the OHS Act and eliminate a significant claims cost.

# **Restricting cover for recesses and absences**

2.20 Another example of perceived disadvantage is that of eliminating coverage for temporary recesses or absences from the workplace. To date the scheme has encompassed injuries sustained during such ventures. The bill adjusts this position and the scheme will in future cover injuries sustained during an ordinary recess at the workplace or while in attendance at an employer-sanctioned event.<sup>15</sup> Employers' liability will be limited to circumstances where they have occupational health and safety obligations or an element of control. It would be unreasonable to make employers liable for all manner and form of injury sustained by their employees independent of the employment relationship and regardless of misguided precedent.

2.21 This is a straightforward amendment and should be readily understood by both employers and employees. Government senators note that recess break claims represent only 1.5 per cent of total claims costs within the scheme. Government senators do not believe that employees will perceive any disadvantage notwithstanding the scheme's generosity to date.

# Adjusting the weekly incapacity benefit

2.22 An important element to the bill is the change to formulas for the recalculation of benefits. The result should be an improvement to the administration and provision of benefits within the scheme. The changes will result, on the whole, in improved benefits. This and following sections of the report explain the detail of the improvements proposed in the bill.

2.23 An injured employee's weekly incapacity benefit is currently determined with reference to the employee's normal weekly earnings (NWE). The Act provides for the adjustment of earnings following any wage increase the injured employee would have received had the employment continued. It is increasingly difficult to forecast the proper adjustment and the bill resolves this problem by prescribing an index for those situations in which earnings cannot be adjusted. This should clarify the adjusted entitlement and simplify the administrative processes involved in the payment of the benefit. Payments will then be made more expeditiously.

# **Increasing funeral benefits**

2.24 Another legislative amendment which passed with little comment was the proposed increase in funeral benefits under this Act and the Military Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 2004 (MRC Act). The funeral benefit under these acts is not in

<sup>15</sup> For example, a social activity approved or arranged by the employer or an event which the employer asks or directs the employee to attend.

accordance with actual funeral costs, and consumer price indexation has failed to achieve a realistic parity.<sup>16</sup> It is illogical to require employers to pay funeral costs which are wholly inadequate for that purpose. Government senators also recognise that it is not reasonable, and it would be heartless, to then require a deceased employee's next of kin or estate to cover the shortfall of funeral costs.

2.25 Government senators note that this positive amendment was commented on in only one submission.<sup>17</sup> Families of employees in most states and territories should benefit from the increase, as will the families of military personnel, and employers will more readily ascertain their liabilities in this regard.

# Correlating the weekly incapacity and superannuation benefits

2.26 The committee also notes the correction of an anomaly whereby weekly incapacity benefits are reduced under the Act if injured employees are simultaneously receiving superannuation benefits. The judicial interpretation of a key phrase, 'being incapacitated for work', has unintentionally created a distinction between employees who are injured on the day of their retirement, and employees who are injured the day before or after their retirement.<sup>18</sup> The latter employees would not have their weekly incapacity benefits reduced on account of the superannuation entitlement. It was never the intention of the legislation to discriminate between employees in this manner and the bill clarifies and corrects the relevant provision within the Act.

# **Calculating compensation**

2.27 The bill proposes new formulas for the calculation of compensation for permanently incapacitated employees who retire. Weekly compensation payments will be reduced by the combined superannuation amount (which may include deemed interest on the superannuation lump sum) and five per cent of an employee's normal weekly earnings. The new formulas will re-establish the original intent of the Act that retired employees on incapacity benefits who are in receipt of superannuation amounts receive 70 percent of normal weekly earnings. The bill will not act retrospectively.

2.28 Government senators note that there was considerable concern expressed in submissions regarding the deemed interest rate. Comcare acknowledged that the current deeming rate had been established nearly 20 years ago and was out of step with current market realities. Government senators accept that the flexible method to be employed under the bill will correct that situation. They also note that the deemed interest rate will be determined in accordance with the consumer price index, which is less complex and more consistent than the formulas adopted by other government

<sup>16</sup> Hon. Kevin Andrews MP, Minister for Employment and Work Relations, *House of Representatives Hansard*, 30 November 2006, p. 3.

<sup>17</sup> Australian Rail, Tram and Bus Industry Union, *Submission 4*, p. 13.

<sup>18</sup> See Lonergan v Comcare [2005] FCA 377

agencies. Comcare was able to assure senators that most people will experience little change or be better off with the new deeming rate.<sup>19</sup>

2.29 Another issue in submissions was that the deemed interest rate would be applied toward gross payments rather than net payments. This is to ensure consistency throughout the Act, and other Commonwealth legislation, and it would be anomalous for the bill to treat recipients under the Act differently from any other beneficiary. The bill is intended to simplify and expedite the payment of benefits in a more transparent manner than is currently the case.<sup>20</sup> Government senators reject any notion that the new formulas are an attempt to reduce current levels of benefit to injured employees.

# **Directly paying medical providers**

2.30 The bill will also enable Comcare to pay the cost of an employee's reasonable medical treatment direct to the medical provider. Alternately, if the account has been paid, then Comcare will be able to reimburse the cost of the medical treatment to or at the direction of an employee. This amendment recognises current practice whereby the majority of medical accounts are lodged direct with Comcare for payment. More importantly, the amendment allows Comcare to expeditiously discharge its statutory payment obligations.

# 'Suitable employment'

2.31 Under the current definition of 'suitable employment', claimants whose employment has been terminated but who choose not to obtain available and suitable employment continue to receive an unadjusted amount of workers' compensation. This is unlikely to assist a claimant's rehabilitation and does nothing to encourage injured employees to re-enter the workforce. It is therefore an unnecessary drain on the financial reserves of the scheme.<sup>21</sup> For this reason amendments contained in the bill enable employers to take potential earnings into account in calculating employee's weekly incapacity benefits.

# **Providing rehabilitation services**

2.32 Finally, the bill will allow a delegated case manager to implement a rehabilitation return to work program without referral to a Comcare approved rehabilitation provider. Australian air Express supported the proposal arguing that the Act currently imposes an unnecessary administrative and financial burden on employers, especially when an employee's injury is clearly minor.<sup>22</sup>

<sup>19</sup> Barbara Bennett, CEO, Comcare, *Committee Hansard*, 8 February 2007, pp 2 -4.

<sup>20</sup> Department of Employment and Workplace Relations, Submission 22, p. 7.

<sup>21</sup> Department of Employment and Workplace Relations, *Submission 22*, p. 9. Also, see Telstra, *Submission 18*, pp 3-4.

<sup>22</sup> Australian air Express, *Submission 15*, pp 5-6.

## Consultations

2.33 The committee notes that in drafting the amendments put forward in this bill, the government has consulted various stakeholders through the Safety, Rehabilitation and Compensation Commission. This is reflected in the submissions of several organisations commenting on the bill.

## Recommendation

Government senators recommend that the bill be passed by the Senate without amendment.

**Senator Judith Troeth** 

Chairman

# Chapter 3

# **Opposition Senators' Report**

3.1 The primary objective of the Safety, Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1988 (the Act) is to establish the Commonwealth Workers Compensation Scheme (the scheme). The scheme provides compensation and rehabilitation to Commonwealth employees, ACT public service employees, and employees of certain private-sector corporations if they suffer work-related fatalities, injuries and illnesses during the course of their employment. The Act is an essential piece of legislation designed to safeguard employees.

3.2 The Safety, Rehabilitation and Compensation and Other Legislation Amendment Bill 2006 (the bill) intends to amend the Act. In this inquiry the committee received numerous submissions which expressed concern with the intent of the legislation.

3.3 Some submissions questioned the broader policy issues, such as the submission from the Australian Council of Trade Unions:

Workers compensation frameworks and the national consistency of legislation and systems are currently the subject of considerable national debate. We also note the rapid recent expansion of the coverage of Comcare to non-traditional Government employees and the zealous encouragement of the Government for multi-state employers to leave State schemes for the Commonwealth system...Rather than seeking to mould the Comcare scheme into a national system that suits the needs of a limited number of private sector employers, the Government should commission the urgently required study into the injury profile a national system should fairly compensate and legislate accordingly for a scheme separate to Comcare.<sup>1</sup>

3.4 The Community and Public Sector Union State Public Services Federation Group believes that the bill will inhibit or limit consensus on a national workers compensation scheme.<sup>2</sup> This view was supported by the Australian Manufacturing Workers' Union which argued that the bill would, lower standards throughout the scheme, as was its intention.<sup>3</sup> The majority of submissions focussed instead upon the bill's stated objectives.

<sup>1</sup> Australian Council of Trade Unions, *Submission 26*, p. 2. Also, see Australian Lawyers' Alliance, *Submission 27*, p. 4 arguing that the scheme itself is structurally endangered.

<sup>2</sup> Community and Public Sector Union State Public Services Federation Group, *Submission 25*, p. 10.

<sup>3</sup> Australian Manufacturing Workers' Union, *Submission 13*, p. 2.

# **Financial viability**

3.5 The Explanatory Memorandum states that the bill is necessary to maintain the financial viability of the scheme, which is increasingly under pressure.

3.6 It is however apparent from the Comcare Annual Report 2005-06 that a few types of claim to be eradicated by the bill are not financially significant. These claim costs are also currently decreasing.<sup>4</sup> There appears to be little financial benefit in removing these claims from the operation of the scheme. They will almost certainly have little impact upon the scheme's viability but will undoubtedly have a potentially devastating impact upon those employees who as a result of the bill will lose existing entitlements.

3.7 Other types of claim result in significant costs upon which the bill is predicated.<sup>5</sup> Arguably, these claims are increasing because of the rising numbers of employees covered by the scheme, and because of societal and workplace trends. There is no evidence that the scheme will have any difficulty meeting these costs in the future.

3.8 Various statistics from the 2006 Comparative Performance Monitoring (CPM) Report were cited in a number of submissions.<sup>6</sup> Some of the general conclusions presented in these submissions were that:

- The Commonwealth jurisdiction has one of the best Assets to Liabilities Ratio;
- The Commonwealth jurisdiction has the lowest premium rate of any Australian jurisdiction;
- The scheme does not have escalating claims numbers or costs;
- The incidence rate and frequency rate of compensated claims in the Commonwealth jurisdiction is decreasing; and
- An actual analysis of claims costs for the Commonwealth jurisdiction shows little overall change.<sup>7</sup>

<sup>4</sup> Comcare, *Annual Report 2005-06*, pp 23-24. For example, injuries caused while employees were having a break represented only 2.1 per cent of claims in the last financial year.

<sup>5</sup> For example, 'Other & unspecified mechanisms of incident', including motor vehicle accidents represented 15.4 per cent of claims, and injuries occurring while employees travelled to/from work represented 14.7 per cent of claims in the financial year ending 30 June 2006.

<sup>6</sup> Workplace Relations Ministers' Council, *Comparative Performance Monitoring Report*, Eighth Edition, September 2006.

3.9 From these statistics the scheme appears to be operating on a perfectly acceptable cost basis and it cannot be claimed that the scheme is in financial jeopardy.

There is no compelling economic argument for amendments to the [Act] that limit access to workers' compensation as proposed in the Bill because neither the Commonwealth Government nor corporations eligible for a license as self insurers are subject to unacceptable cost pressures.<sup>8</sup>

3.10 Although the bill will reduce and limit benefits under the Act, there has been no commitment to pass on an appropriate proportion in the anticipated savings by way of a reduction in premiums.<sup>9</sup> Furthermore, the bill will not ultimately effect 'savings' in a number of other areas.

# Lack of 'savings'

3.11 It was argued in submissions that the real intention of the bill is to externalise or shift costs from employers to employees, private insurers, tax payers and public health service providers, such as Medicare and Centrelink.

It's not that the costs will disappear; it's simply that they will be transferred to someone else. And it's not that the relevant workplace injuries and/or illnesses will disappear either; it's simply that the employer will, by legislative fiat, no longer have any responsibility to contribute to their cure (despite the work contributing to the cause).<sup>10</sup>

3.12 This cost-transfer is untenable as the Act charges employers with responsibility for the safety, rehabilitation and compensation of their injured employees, including the financial responsibility. It is equally objectionable given that the bill will have the effect of increasing the costs to be transferred away from employers.

3.13 Opposition senators suggest that in order to maintain the credibility of employers and the scheme, the bill must be redirected toward the needs of those whom the Act purports to protect.

<sup>7</sup> Communications Electrical Plumbing Union, Submission 24, p. 1. Also, see Community and Public Sector Union, Submission 16, p. 9; Australian Council of Trade Unions, Submission 26, p. 4; Bicycle Federation of Australia, Submission 11, p. 2 noting that Comcare's standard workers' compensation premiums are lower than some State schemes that exclude journey claims and The Law Council of Australia, Submission 19, p. 3 observing that the scheme is not the most generous scheme in terms of either the level of statutory benefits paid to injured employees or access to common law remedies.

<sup>8</sup> Community and Public Sector Union - State Public Services Federation Group, *Submission 25*, p. 10.

<sup>9</sup> Law Council of Australia, *Submission 19*, p. 3.

<sup>10</sup> Australian Rail, Bus and Tram Industry Union, *Submission 4*, p. 5. Also, see Superannuation Commonwealth Officers' Association, *Submission 9*, p. 5.

What is a financial "cost of operation" to an employer is personal, intimate, family focused and frightening to the employee faced with injury or disease and associated psychological consequences.<sup>11</sup>

3.14 Therefore, Opposition senators conclude that the bill is misguided in its focus. It will save money for employers without reference to broader, and not necessarily financial issues, such as increasing the burden on taxpayers, injured employees and their families.

# **Key terms re-defined**

3.15 The bill proposes two fundamental changes to the Act which will significantly alter the nature of the legislation. These two changes re-define key terms, 'disease' and 'injury', which determine whether injured employees are entitled to safety, rehabilitation or compensation under the Act. It is argued that the two changes will clarify to whom the Act applies, and was always intended to apply, by strengthening the connection between work and eligibility under the scheme. The changes however go much further.

#### 'Disease'

3.16 The proposed change to the meaning of 'disease' effectively introduces a new statutory threshold. To be entitled to workers compensation an injured employee will now need to establish that the injury was caused 'to a significant degree' by the employment.

Substituting significant degree in place of material degree and specifying the matters to be taken into account in determining significant degree tighten the employment contribution test to the point where many work related injuries will be excluded.<sup>12</sup>

3.17 The new test also evidences a lack of proportional responsibility. If work contributes to a health condition, but is not the primary cause of that condition, then an employer will not be required to provide any compensation to an employee.<sup>13</sup> A number of submissions argued that the element of proportional responsibility was both fair and encouraged employers to maintain a safe and healthy workplace.<sup>14</sup>

<sup>11</sup> Community and Public Sector Union and State Public Services Federation Group, *Submission* 25, p. 3.

<sup>12</sup> Communications Electrical Plumbing Union, *Submission 24*, p. 2. Also, see Community and Public Sector Union, *Submission 16*, p. 9.

<sup>13</sup> Superannuated Commonwealth Officers' Association, *Submission 9*, p. 6. Also, see Law Council of Australia, *Submission 19*, p. 4 and Community and Public Sector Union, *Submission 16*, p. 4.

<sup>14</sup> For example, see Australian Federation of Disability Organisations, *Submission 21*, p. 2.

3.18 The bill was also criticised for its effect upon certain employees, especially those with mental illness, pre-existing genetic dispositions or any underlying disease. There were three main arguments in this regard:

- That the new test might exclude such employees from the statutory protections and prevent them from obtaining help and treatment
- That employees might not disclose the nature of an illness for fear of workplace discrimination
- That the exclusions could result in a significant loss of productivity and experienced workers.<sup>15</sup>

3.19 The suggestion that the new test could lead to discrimination against people with mental illness was further advanced in the context of employers' Occupational Health and Safety (OH&S) responsibilities: if there were no liability for such injuries, then employers might not provide affected employees with a work environment necessary for successful employment.<sup>16</sup>

3.20 OH&S arguments were presented throughout a number of submissions. The Australian Council of Trade Unions submitted that the government should take a lead role in the development of OH&S solutions to the causes of psychological injury rather than seeking to deny entitlements to workers.<sup>17</sup> The Australian Rail, Tram and Bus Industry Union argued that OH&S matters would suffer neglect if employers' workers compensation payments were to diminish on account of the bill.<sup>18</sup>

3.21 Most importantly, the new test is fundamentally flawed. As the Community and Public Sector Union described the problem:

The test presumes that it is possible to weigh the relative causes of an injury and arrive at some sort of quantitative assessment of the relative importance of each event. We believe this presumption is misconceived and extremely problematic, especially so in the context of mental illness. Mental and psychological illnesses often have multiple causes, and it is very difficult to determinatively assess the relative weight of each cause.<sup>19</sup>

3.22 The Construction Forestry Mining Energy Union argued:

<sup>15</sup> Mental Health Council of Australia, *Submission 17*, p.3. Also, see Australian Rail, Tram and Bus Industry Union, *Submission 4*, p. 9 noting that the incidence of psychological illnesses has become a serious issue in the workplace; Community and Public Sector Union and State Public Services Federation Group, *Submission 25*, p. 10 and Beyond Blue, *Submission 2*, p. 1

<sup>16</sup> Mental Health Council of Australia, *Submission 17*, p. 3.

<sup>17</sup> Australian Manufacturing Workers', *Submission 13*, p. 9.

<sup>18</sup> Australian Rail, Tram and Bus Industry Union, *Submission 4*, p. 5. Also, see Superannuated Commonwealth Officers' Association, *Submission 9*, p. 6.

<sup>19</sup> Community and Public Sector Union, *Submission 16*, p. 9.

[The new test] heavily tips the balance in favour of employers and insurers in the litigation that will follow. Most disease related injuries aggravated by work will raise complex medical questions on cause and effect but under the new legal "test" put up by the Bill it will be practically much more difficult to find any medical consensus. The end result will be many workers will unfairly miss out on compensation.<sup>20</sup>

3.23 In short, the new definition of 'disease' will adversely affect employees covered by the scheme. In many instances the scheme will no longer apply, regardless of whether employment contributes to an employee's injury. In other instances it will be difficult for an employee to prove eligibility to be covered by the scheme. The bill will therefore eliminate or reduce injured employees' current statutory entitlements, as well as sanction discrimination among employees.

3.24 Even more reprehensible is that a piece of legislation designed to protect employees will absolve employers from certain OH&S liabilities, which are at the very heart of employment and industrial relations law. Opposition senators believe that this particular amendment is contrary to the primary objective of the Act: the safety, rehabilitation and compensation of injured employees. Opposition senators also suggest that the amendment is unnecessary in view of the recent decision of the Federal Court in *Canute v Commonwealth of Australia* [2005] FCA 299 in which the Court affirmed the requirement for a 'close connection between the employment and the disease'.<sup>21</sup>

# 'Reasonable administrative decision'

3.25 The second fundamental change to the Act is the re-definition of 'injury'. It is claimed that this shall prevent workers' compensation claims being used to obstruct legitimate administrative action by excluding claims where an injury has arisen as a result of such action.<sup>22</sup> Two specific aspects of the new definition caused considerable concern: what comprises a 'reasonable administrative action', and might therefore give rise to non-compensable injuries, and that determination by employers with reference to a non-exhaustive list of actions.

3.26 A number of submissions found fault with the bill's effect of placing employers' managerial behaviour beyond reproach. The Australian Manufacturing Workers' Union argued that the width of the 'reasonable administrative action' exception will break the nexus between employers' behaviour and the consequences of their action.<sup>23</sup> The Australian Rail, Tram and Bus Industry Union concurred, adding:

<sup>20</sup> Construction Forestry Mining Energy Union, *Submission 20*, pp 1-2.

<sup>21</sup> Law Council of Australia, *Submission 19*, p. 2.

<sup>22</sup> Explanatory Memorandum, p. 11.

<sup>23</sup> Australian Manufacturing Workers' Union, *Submission 13*, p. 5. Also, see Community and Public Sector Union, *Submission 16*, p. 11 and Communications Electrical Plumbing Union, *Submission 24*, p. 2.

With appropriately trained and qualified management, a proper disciplinary policy, clear and well-articulated policies and procedures and the right of employees to representation, the possibility of incurring an injury as a result of disciplinary and other matters of conflict should diminish.<sup>24</sup>

3.27 The Law Council of Australia questioned the clarity of the provision:

The extension of the exclusionary provision to reasonable "administrative action" takes this exclusion too far. On one interpretation, it might be considered that all Government actions (and not just disciplinary ones) can be regarded as "administrative action". Another danger of excluding all injuries arising from all "reasonable administrative action" under a no fault scheme is that certain judgements about fault must be imported. The basic premise upon which various Australian workers compensation schemes are based is that "reasonableness" of a particular action or omission is excluded (hence, the term 'no-fault'). The aim historically was to provide workers with a defined benefit in the event of incapacity. Questions of fault have historically been handled by the courts.<sup>25</sup>

3.28 Opposition senators cannot see how a question of fault can be impartially decided by employers within the scheme.

3.29 It is equally questionable how 'reasonable' will be interpreted. What is reasonable depends entirely upon circumstance and perspective. If an injured employee disagrees with an employer's assessment of the reasonableness of an action, then it would be difficult to contest. Employees do not necessarily have sufficient resources to match and effectively challenge employers, regardless of the merits of a case. It is not fair in such circumstances to require employees to prove that their statutory rights have been breached.

# 'Injury'

3.30 The re-definition of 'injury' is a provision which has the potential for abuse over time.<sup>26</sup> The Act clearly specifies a limited number of specific circumstances in which employees cannot have recourse to workers compensation entitlements. The legislation, arguably, was never intended to entirely exclude all manner of injuries which employees might incur as a result of employers' managerial decisions. The breadth of the exclusionary provision, regardless of any particular interpretation, is not appropriate.

<sup>24</sup> Australian Rail, Tram and Bus Industry Union *Submission 4*, p. 11. Also, see Community and Public Sector Union State Public Services Federation Group, *Submission 25*, p. 9 advocating greater resource allocation focussed on prevention and rehabilitation and Australian Physiotherapy Association, *Submission 14*, p. 4.

<sup>25</sup> Law Council of Australia, *Submission 19*, p. 4.

<sup>26</sup> Australian Rail, Tram and Bus Industry Union, *Submission 4*, p. 11 and Community and Public Sector Union, *Submission 16*, p. 10.

3.31 The exclusionary provision could also undermine the primary objectives of the Act. A rejected claim could result in an employee being absent on sick leave or leave without pay. An employee on extended unpaid sick leave would probably access the social welfare system and the public health system. This could be ongoing if the employment were terminated owing to non-rehabilitation.<sup>27</sup>

3.32 As with the new definition of 'disease', there was apparent concern with how the new definition of 'injury' will affect employees with disabilities and/or mental illnesses. It was argued that it is wrong in principle to distinguish these types of injury from physical injury, and discriminate against certain professions, occupations and injured employees.<sup>28</sup> The Australian Federation of Disability Organisations questioned whether the list of variable considerations could ever operate equitably.<sup>29</sup>

3.33 In passing, Opposition senators note the insinuation that a significant number of employees are abusing the scheme. No clear and convincing evidence was offered to the committee to support this assertion. If there is a legitimate concern about abuse, then, if not already provided, the Act should provide for appropriate civil or criminal offence penalties.

3.34 The Act affords employees a level of protection in circumstances where they have been injured at work and require a guaranteed level of assistance from their employer. It is not legislation aimed at protecting employers at the expense of injured employees.

# Lack of clarity

3.35 Ambiguity in the interpretation of the Act is cited as one justification for the bill. The re-defined key terms do nothing to remedy that apparent problem. Not only is there no evidence to suggest that once enacted the bill will result in the lodgement of fewer claims, indeed the contrary is likely as many injured employees will not be able to determine whether they are covered by the scheme. Perhaps an ulterior motive of the bill is to discourage injured employees from lodging a claim.

3.36 A self-insurer under the Act submitted:

The use of subjective terms...is likely to create confusion amongst stakeholders and result in an increase of disputes, ultimately driving workers compensation claims cost higher. Accordingly, we suggest the amendment provide greater clarity or an objective test to determine liability; greater clarity ensuring workers are aware of their rights and entitlements and employers to more effectively manage their risk...We

<sup>27</sup> Australian Rail, Tram and Bus Industry Union, *Submission 4*, p. 11.

Community and Public Sector Union State Public Services Federation Group, *Submission 25*, p. 8.

<sup>29</sup> Australian Federation of Disability Organisations, *Submission 21*, p. 3.

foresee an inevitable situation of incurring legal costs in order to defend and/or clarify our interpretation of the proposed definition of '*significant*'.<sup>30</sup>

3.37 The bill remains ambiguous and will probably result in much the same problem as is currently the case. The amendment is therefore pointless and does nothing to improve the administration and provision of benefits within the scheme.

3.38 To claim that the bill is required to correct legislative ambiguities is misleading and implies that the Act has been poorly drafted. This is not the case. The Act is clear in its intent and is being interpreted consistently by the courts.

# Non coverage of journey claims

3.39 That the real object of the bill is to eliminate or curtail employees' rights is evidenced by this particular amendment. The bill revokes an existing entitlement on the basis that injury sustained in accidents that occur on the way to and from work cannot be attributed to employers.

3.40 The approval given to journey claims over the past 19 years has given rise to the understanding that journey claims are an entitlement. It would be unjust to disallow journey claims when they have been readily available and encouraged for many years, especially since employees significantly rely upon the coverage. The elimination of journey claims is bound to cause great discontent because it is an erosion of a fundamental and traditional condition of employment, as is clear from the number of submissions received on this point.<sup>31</sup>

3.41 Proponents of the bill argue that travel to and from work is not undertaken in the *course of employment* and consequently, injuries sustained during such travel should not be compensable. Almost without exception, submissions received by the committee disagreed.

3.42 The Community and Public Sector Union State Public Services Federation Group stated:

Getting to and from work is an activity closely connected with employment and it is not correct to say that it is an activity entirely beyond or outside of the employment relationship.<sup>32</sup>

<sup>30</sup> Thales Australia, *Submission 3*, p. 2. Also, see Australian Rail, Tram and Bus Industry Union, *Submission 4*, pp 8-9 and Law Council of Australia, *Submission 19*, p. 4 noting that in jurisdictions applying tests of 'reasonableness' there has been increased litigation and greater uncertainty as to entitlements.

<sup>31</sup> Superannuated Commonwealth Officers' Association, Submission 9, p. 7. Also, see Australian Council of Trade Unions, Submission 26, p. 7, Jeremy Coleman, Submission 5, Nicholas Covey, Submission 6, Gilbert Logan, Submission 8, Pedal Power ACT Inc, Submission 10, Bicycle Federation of Australia, Submission 11, Jeff Ibbotson, Submission 12.

<sup>32</sup> Community and Public Sector Union State Public Services Federation Group, *Submission 25*, p. 5.

3.43 Employees, like employers, do not exercise ideal control over travelling to and from work and it is iniquitous to require employees to bear all responsibility for injuries caused on the way to and from work.<sup>33</sup>

3.44 The Construction Forestry Mining Energy Union (CFMEU) told the committee:

The CFMEU has seen many examples where its members have been seriously hurt, maimed or even killed going to work or coming home from work when fatigued from long hours of overtime or after arduous work or as a result [of] being required to travel outside "normal" work hours. In these situations the worker and their family often have no rights to under [sic] other compensation schemes.<sup>34</sup>

3.45 It has been suggested that employees injured on the way to and from work can avail themselves of alternate forms of coverage. Private insurance would however require the injured employee to establish fault on the part of another person or entity, which might require an action at common law.<sup>35</sup> There is also no rehabilitation scheme for transport other than by private motor vehicle or for persons who are involved in catastrophic accidents.<sup>36</sup>

3.46 The Community and Public Sector Union State Public Services Federation Group additionally remarked upon the primacy of individual agreements:

This breakdown in support of collective representation broadens the inequities already existing and lessens the prospects that most employees will have to achieve insurance coverage necessary to protect them and their dependants against misadventure while traveling [sic] to and from work.<sup>37</sup>

3.47 Opposition senators agree that the no fault workers compensation scheme is the most effective and suitable option for the rehabilitation and early return to work of injured employees.

3.48 The lack of control has been cited as a primary reason why employers should not be required to cover journey claims via the scheme. Again, most submissions to the committee rejected the argument.

For example, see Jeff Ibbotson, Submission 12, p. 1; Jeremy Coleman, Submission 5, p. 1;
Australian Rail, Tram and Bus Industry Union, Submission 4, p. 12; Community and Public
Sector Union, Submission 16, p. 12; Australian Manufacturing Workers' Union, Submission 13,
p. 8; and Superannuated Commonwealth Officers' Association, Submission 9, p. 7.

<sup>34</sup> Construction Forestry Mining Energy Union, *Submission 20*, p. 2.

Community and Public Sector Union State Public Services Federation Group, *Submission 25*,
p. 6 and Mr David Perkins, Federal Industrial Officer, Community and Public Sector Union
State Public Services Federation Group, *Committee Hansard*, 30 January 2007, p. 18.

<sup>36</sup> Australian Manufacturing Workers' Union, *Submission 13*, p. 5.

<sup>37</sup> Community and Public Sector Union State Public Services Federation Group, *Submission 25*, p. 6.

#### 3.49 The Australian Rail, Tram and Bus Industry Union argued:

The claim about "control" misses the point about the connection with work and why the employee was doing what he/she was doing at the time of the injury/illness. This claim is part of a broader campaign by employers to avoid their responsibilities to their employees by alleging the absence of control. The aim here is to transfer responsibility for accidents in the workplace from the employer to the employee.<sup>38</sup>

#### 3.50 The Communications Electrical and Plumbing Union added:

Workers Compensation is beneficial legislation with an underlying premise of "no fault". Arguments to exclude compensation on the basis that the employer has no control or fully complies introduces concepts which if extended would exclude many compensable claims and undermine the whole social framework of workers compensation legislation.<sup>39</sup>

3.51 The Law Council of Australia submission submitted that the proper rationale was risk rather than control:

The original rationale for allowing journey claims under the English Acts of the early twentieth century was that travel to work outside the house substantially increased the risk to workers. The Law Council believes that this rationale has not diminished in importance in the present working environment and journeys undertaken as part of or in relation to employment or study should be covered.<sup>40</sup>

3.52 Employees injured travelling to and from work have a reasonable expectation that the no fault scheme will provide them with rehabilitation and compensation in time of need. A legislative change of heart is poor justification, and indeed reward, for eliminating the most expeditious means of providing that protection. It also rather inconveniently ignores the benefits to employers of maintaining a healthy and productive workforce and undermines the foundations of workers compensation legislations in the interests of short-term fiscal benefit for those obliged to provide the protection.

3.53 A theme of the bill appears to be discouraging employees from getting out and about both during the work day and on the way to work.

<sup>38</sup> Australian Rail, Tram and Bus Industry Union, *Submission 4*, pp. 12-13.

<sup>39</sup> Communications Electrical Plumbing Union, *Submission 24*, pp. 2-3. Also, see Australian Manufacturing Workers' Union, *Submission 13*, p. 7; Community and Public Sector Union, *Submission 16*, pp. 6-7; Financial Sector Union of Australia, *Submission 28*, p. 2.

<sup>40</sup> Law Council of Australia, *Submission 19*, p. 5. Also, see Australian manufacturing Workers' Union, *Submission 13*, p. 5 and *Submission 16*, p. 12 where it is noted that "peak hour" is part of the working lives of the majority of employees and is a more dangerous time to be travelling.

### **Physical activity**

3.54 There was strong concern expressed about the effect of the journey claim changes on employee health and fitness. Submissions indicated that employees enjoyed riding or cycling to work in the knowledge that they were covered by the no fault scheme. These submissions also noted the benefits employers derived from having a healthy workforce: invigorated employees, quick recovery rates, and less reliance upon the public health system. It was noted that these benefits have been recognised by employers with the encouragement and implementation of various health initiatives.<sup>41</sup>

I was injured in an accident in October 2004...I was covered by workers compensation and was able to easily and quickly have my medical bills paid and my income uninterrupted. The changes proposed...place a further work related burden on workers. Certainly it is possible to pursue recovery of costs for personal injury through the court system however this is expensive, slow and leaves the employee vulnerable to financial hardship at a time when he or she is likely to be in pain, shock and stress from the trauma suffered.<sup>42</sup>

My rehab doctor told me I made a pretty quick recovery, due in no small measure to my overall fitness from riding regularly to work...In the end I was back at work fairly quickly...I think that if I'd had to worry about whether I should incur some of the medical expenses I might have either returned to work before I was fully fit (posing an OH&S risk to myself and others) or I'd have taken longer to recover fully.<sup>43</sup>

3.55 There did not appear to be any hard data or empirical studies supporting the claim that a lack of workers compensation would discourage employees from getting to work under their own steam. Submissions were, however, clear on this point with Fitness Australia Inc. stating that the bill will discourage employees from attempting to incorporate incidental activity into their daily lives.<sup>44</sup>

3.56 In addition to health concerns, several of these submissions noted that petrol prices, road congestion and global warming were further considerations for encouraging them to use public transport, bicycle or walk to and from work.<sup>45</sup> There is no sound reason to exclude journey claims from the ambit of the Act. Indeed, it is

<sup>Mr Jeff Ibbotson,</sup> *Submission 12*, p. 1; Community and Public Sector Union, *Submission 16*, p. 8; Pedal Power ACT Inc, *Submission 10*, p. 1; Bicycle Federation of Australia, *Submission 11*, p. 1.

<sup>42</sup> Ms Gilbert Logan, *Submission* 8, p. 1.

<sup>43</sup> Mr Jeff Ibbotson, *Submission 12*, p. 1. Also, see Community and Public Sector Union, *Submission 16*, p. 8.

<sup>44</sup> Fitness Australia, *Submission 1*, p. 2.

<sup>45</sup> Mr Nicholas Covey, *Submission 6*, p. 1. Also, see Bicycle Federation of Australia, *Submission 11*.

contrary to employees' expectations and the no fault scheme currently existing in the majority of state based workers compensation schemes.

#### Off site recess breaks

3.57 The bill will remove employees' coverage for injuries which occur outside the work place or at off site events which are not sanctioned by employers. It is highly questionable whether this provision is at all necessary to sustain the scheme's financial viability. It is also inconsistent with the majority of state based workers compensation schemes.<sup>46</sup> In the context of health and fitness activities, the Superannuated Commonwealth Officers' Association suggested that the provision discriminates against employees.<sup>47</sup>

3.58 There was also interest in possible exceptions to the general rule. A specific example explored by the committee was that of mobile work places.<sup>48</sup> Opposition senators are not convinced that in practice the provision will be so simple to apply. It is likely that there will be some disagreement about what constitutes a 'recess break' or place of work. These issues were illustrated to the committee during the inquiry.

**Senator MARSHALL**—I just want to come back to the breaks, in relation to some of the questioning I did with Telstra. Let us look at a lunch break, for instance. They were of the view that, if you stayed within the employer's confines or workplace and had lunch, you were covered. That probably goes to your issue about providing a healthy and safe workplace and having some control over it. So are employers required to provide somewhere to have lunch?

#### Ms Bennett-No.

Senator MARSHALL—They are not. Okay. Are they required to provide a break for lunch?

**Ms Bennett**—That goes to industrial legislation but, yes, my understanding is that there are hours worked after which breaks are required. Also, on the safety side, we look at that as safety about fatigue and reasonable working hours. But, as to whether a tearoom is provided, I do not know. When I worked in industrial relations, it was not a requirement that tearooms were provided. But hours of work are set out in industrial relations legislation.

**Senator MARSHALL**—Employers are responsible for administering those arrangements, aren't they? So we make the assumption that everyone is required to have a lunch break if they are working full time.

#### Ms Ryan—Yes.

**Senator MARSHALL**—So if you are out on the road as a Telstra technician—and this is the proposition I put to Telstra—and you pull over because it is your lunch break and you are required to have a lunch break by the employer, you sit in the park and eat your sandwiches and you are injured in the course of that process, are you covered?

Ms Bennett—No. Outside the workplace on a lunch break, you are not covered.

**Senator MARSHALL**—Why not? It seems inconsistent because you said that if the employer requires you to do a course of study, that is fine; you are covered for the journey and you are covered at the place of the education. But if you are required to have a break, why would you not be covered?

<sup>46</sup> Communications Electrical Plumbing Union, *Submission 24*, p. 3 noting only South Australia and Tasmania limit recess break coverage to on worksite injuries. Also, see Community and Public Sector Union State Public Services Federation Group, *Submission 25*, p. 7.

<sup>47</sup> Superannuated Commonwealth Officers' Association, *Submission* 9, p. 8.

<sup>48</sup> Mr Richard Coleman, Telstra, *Committee Hansard*, 31 January 2007, pp. 10-11.

**Ms Parker**—It is no different than if I am at work here in Melbourne and leave and go into the park. The employer has no control over that environment. It is the same for a truck driver. If they go to the park, there is no control over that site. They could be doing anything.

**Senator MARSHALL**—So if the employer requires the employee to have a lunch break, it would be reasonable to expect the employer to require the employee to come back to a place that the employer has control over for them to exercise that lunch break?

Ms Parker—That would be the only way the employer could have control over the facilities and ensure a safe workplace, yes.  $^{49}$ 

3.59 The opposition does not accept the government's position that this is an issue of control; it is about the employment relationship. The Act is and has always been based on the premise of no fault or as the Communications Electrical Plumbing Union stated:

It is a beneficial piece of legislation. It has to take into account all of the work life and the employment relationship that exists, not just the bits where the person is sitting under the direct eye, as it were, of the employer and doing what they are told.<sup>50</sup>

3.60 The Act is about people. One of the administrative changes to the Act will be the introduction of a new deeming rate for the calculation of weekly incapacity benefits. It would be impossible to ignore the practical effects of the new deeming rate and notional superannuation contribution due to the number of submissions received on point.

#### Deeming rate

3.61 The bill proposes to allow the Minister to issue an instrument each year setting the deemed interest rate for the following 12 months. The rate is expected to be based on the 10 year government bond rate for the previous 12 months.

3.62 The Australian Rail, Tram and Bus Industry Union was sceptical that this proposed means of determining the deemed rate would produce a fair result:

The problem here is that the index is to be contained in Regulations and will be as determined by the Minister for Employment and Workplace Relations. Given the attitude of the Federal Government on wage increases and benefits to employees generally, it would be difficult to have any confidence that the indexes, if used, will provide for other than marginal increases.<sup>51</sup>

3.63 The existing 10 per cent deemed interest rate already produces unfair results. As Comcare told the committee:

<sup>49</sup> *Committee Hansard*, 31 January 2007, p. 34.

<sup>50</sup> Ms Sharelle Herrington, Divisional Assistant Secretary, Communications Electrical Plumbing Union, *Committee Hansard*, 30 January 2007, p. 5.

<sup>51</sup> Australian Rail, Tram and Bus Industry Union, *Submission 4*, p. 13.

It was set in 1988. In the mid-90s, as other financial indicators such as bond rates and interest rates changed, it moved out of step and it probably has been too high since the late 90s.<sup>52</sup>

3.64 For many years then the deemed interest rate has grossly disadvantaged injured employees receiving benefits under the scheme. Injured employees have no doubt been keenly aware of this disadvantage and some have sought to draw the government's attention to the inequity inherent in the fixed deeming rate.

3.65 A particular example provided to the committee was that from Mr Ian Emery. Different calculations indicate that Mr Emery has been penalised somewhere between \$63 000 - \$175 000 over the course of nearly 13 years. While there might be some disagreement concerning the precise extent of this disadvantage, the salient point is that the fixed deeming rate has clearly caused Mr Emery considerable disadvantage. Up to 200 other injured employees may have been similarly affected.

3.66 The government for its part has taken scant notice of the concerns, notwithstanding that it is the only party capable of addressing the inequity. The fixed deeming rate has not only been blatantly applied without regard to principles of equity, it has also failed to achieve the legislative objective of delivering a minimum safety net income of 75 per cent of NWE. The bill should be amended to immediately address this gross injustice.

3.67 Another criticism found in many submissions argued that the proposed method of determining the deemed interest rate was unique to the scheme and was discriminatory. The Communications Electrical Plumbing Union submitted that the deemed interest rate should reflect actual interest rate expectations, or the deeming rate used for other legislative payments (pensions, veterans affairs), and should not be manipulated to intentionally reduce benefits or give a better return to the scheme to the detriment of individuals.<sup>53</sup> Opposition senators agree that in retrospect the deeming rate has disadvantaged individuals, which is neither appropriate nor fair and that it is incumbent upon the government to remedy the situation to meet the objectives of the Act.

#### **Recommendation 1**

# **3.68** That the bill be amended to address the retrospective inequity in the deeming rate.

3.69 Another common criticism of the deemed interest rate was that it will apply to gross lump sum payments, which effectively increase the deeming rate.<sup>54</sup> The Department conceded that all formulas in the bill are based on gross amounts. The bill

<sup>52</sup> Ms Barbara Bennett, CEO, Comcare, *Committee Hansard*, 8 February 2007, p. 2.

<sup>53</sup> Communications Electrical Plumbing Union, *Submission 24*, p. 3. Also, see Mr Ian Emery, *Submission 7*, p.3 and Superannuated Commonwealth Officers' Association, *Submission 9*, p. 9.

<sup>54</sup> Superannuated Commonwealth Officers' Association, *Submission* 9, p. 9.

amends the formulas only in relation to injured employees drawing lump sum payments upon retirement. The Department argued that it would be anomalous for the bill to make a distinction between these employees and injured employees drawing weekly incapacity benefits.<sup>55</sup>

3.70 The comments of the Law Council of Australia are worth noting in this regard:

Although the Comcare scheme claims to provide incapacity benefits at 75%, incapacitated employees who are retired on incapacity grounds or who receive a redundancy package contribute to this sum by way of deduction of any pension or by deducting an amount from any lump sum. As the object of superannuation is to provide a retirement income (post 65), the effect of these provision is that injured employees must subsidise the Commonwealth's obligation to provide incapacity payments using their superannuation entitlements.

[In the case of lump sum payments] the formula of dividing by 520 essentially means that the lump sum is applied instead of compensation for that 10 year period such that it may be exhausted prior to reaching 65 years of age and becomes a negative if retirement occurs prior to age 55. This approach also provides a real incentive for statutory corporations...to use retirement as a means of relieving their premium burden rather than redeployment, which is contrary to the intention of the Act.<sup>56</sup>

3.71 Opposition senators consider it unfair to use a formula which is less generous than it appears and then determine on this basis what benefit will be grants. This is iniquitous. The purpose of the formulas should be to ensure that injured workers are provided with a fair payment, not one which is deemed to be adequate from the government's fiscal point of view.

3.72 Opposition senators also note that injured workers receiving lump sum payments are subject to the application of the then deemed interest rate. Under the bill this rate could vary so that an injured worker receiving weekly incapacity benefits could have either more or less deducted from his or her payment than an injured worker in an identical situation who retires with a lump sum payment. It is also highly possible that this fluctuating rate will increase the burden of administering weekly incapacity payments.

# Notional superannuation contributions

3.73 The second element of the formulas which drew sharp criticism from all quarters was the five per cent deduction for notional superannuation contributions. The criticisms canvassed a variety of issues.

<sup>55</sup> Mr Alex O'Shea, Comcare, *Committee Hansard*, 31 January 2007, pp. 29-30.

<sup>56</sup> Law Council of Australia, *Submission 19*, pp. 5-6.

## 3.74 The Communications Electrical Plumbing Union submitted:

There is no legitimate reason to reduce the NWE of retired claimants by 5% to 70% rather than the 75% entitlement of other claimants. No actual superannuation contribution is made so there is no return to the claimant, unlike the situation with ordinary claimants whose personal contribution to superannuation is returned to them with interest; nor is there generally any notional employee contribution in most superannuation funds.<sup>57</sup>

3.75 Comcare indicated to the committee that the five per cent notional superannuation deductions will in future be invested in personal accounts of behalf of injured employees.<sup>58</sup> Opposition senators are encouraged by this advice for two important reasons: the new approach will ensure that monies notionally deducted are actually credited, and ultimately paid, to those people entitled to the monies and the investment will enable injured employees to effectively make superannuation contributions and plan for their financial future.

3.76 A further concern was that the notional superannuation deduction effectively reduces the income safety net at a time when injured employees' income is already substantially less than what it was prior to the employee's injury. This can cause hardship to beneficiaries under the scheme. Opposition senators suggest that monies deducted should be re-paid to the injured employees.<sup>59</sup>

3.77 A third concern was that the notional five per cent appears to be a figure simply plucked out of thin air. Nowadays not all superannuation schemes require personal contributions and those that do have varying levels of contribution. Again, superannuation monies should be returned to those who need them.

3.78 On a different note, the Community and Public Sector Union submitted:

[The 70% of NWE] has been a continuing cause for discontent and resentment by CPSU members...By reducing the amount of weekly benefits from 75% to 70% of applicable salary, the Commonwealth will be paying different levels of benefits to public servants compared to the benefits payable to members of the Australian Defence Force.<sup>60</sup>

3.79 Opposition senators see no need for the continuation of this discrimination and recommend that it be resolved without delay.

<sup>57</sup> Communications Electrical Plumbing Union, *Submission 24*, p.3. Also, see Mr Ian Emery, *Submission 7*, pp. 6-7 and Superannuated Commonwealth Officers' Association, *Submission 9*, pp. 8-9.

<sup>58</sup> Ms Barbara Bennett, Comcare, *Committee Hansard*, 31 January 2007, p. 27.

<sup>59</sup> Superannuated Commonwealth Employees' Association, *Submission 9*, p. 9. Also, see Mr Ian Emery, *Submission 7*.

<sup>60</sup> Community and Public Sector Union, *Submission 16*, pp. 17-18.

3.80 Opposition senators suggest that while the formulas themselves might not require clarification, their rationale is less clear. The purpose of the benefits should be to ensure that injured employees are provided with a certain level of income for both their short and long-term needs. Instead, the formulas appear designed to reduce the amount of income actually paid to employees with scant regard to their interests. The logic offered in support of these changes is at best convoluted and at worst woefully ignorant. There can be no justification for preventing injured employees from taking care of themselves and increasing their dependency upon the government and public health system. Instead, the formulas should work toward increasing employees financial independence.

# 'Suitable employment'

3.81 The bill will allow for a reduction in the weekly incapacity benefit based on an employee's actual or potential earnings from employment with the Commonwealth or any other type of employment.

3.82 The Communications Electrical Plumbing Union argued that rather than reduce the weekly incapacity benefit, it would be more effective to enhance alternate employment opportunities as occurs in other jurisdictional schemes.<sup>61</sup> It is preferable to provide injured workers with opportunities to re-enter the work force rather than penalise them for being unable to obtain alternative employment and reliant upon other forms of assistance.

3.83 This is particularly so in relation to those injured workers who are affected by disability. As noted by the Australian Federation of Disability Organisations, people with disability face substantial direct and indirect discrimination in the workforce, which severely restricts their opportunities to find employment. They are also more vulnerable to retrenchment and are extremely unlikely to ever re-enter the workforce.<sup>62</sup> For people with disability, 'potential earnings' might operate to their distinct disadvantage.

3.84 Opposition senators do not agree with this amendment as it has the potential to discriminate against injured workers, does nothing whatsoever to rehabilitate injured workers and is a short-sighted fiscal measure which penalises injured workers.

# Lack of consultation

3.85 There was some indication of dissatisfaction with the process of consultation:

The only consultation that has occurred has been at the level of the [Safety Rehabilitation and Compensation] Commission. If, according to the Federal Government, that should suffice to fulfil its obligations on consultation,

<sup>61</sup> Communications Electrical Plumbing Union, *Submission 24*, p. 3.

<sup>62</sup> Australian Federal Disability Organisations, *Submission 21*, p. 3.

then it falls a long way short of what most people would regard as reasonable.  $^{63}$ 

3.86 The Communications Electrical Plumbing Union concurred:

The proposed amendments were the subject of a commission paper, which outlined the Government and Comcare's views with a union response to each proposal. There was no discussion or consultation on the proposed amendments, either before or after that paper was presented to the Commission.<sup>64</sup>

3.87 Opposition senators suggest that the lack of consultation indicates the fundamental problem with the bill. As two submissions noted:

There is no sense of balance in this Bill. The amendments solely favour the employer and, in this case, the Federal Government as employer. They are amendments that appear to be motivated by cutting the cost of the workers compensation to employers that apply to the Comcare workers compensation scheme. The result is that employees with legitimate workers compensation claims will be denied an entitlement.<sup>65</sup>

These amendments frustrate even the stated ambitions of the Government itself. They frustrate workplace safety, rather than encouraging improvements, diminish the adequacy of compensation, and go no way to achieving goals of early intervention, rehabilitation or return to work.<sup>66</sup>

#### Conclusion

3.88 In conclusion, opposition senators believe the primary purpose of the bill is to reduce existing employee entitlements. The opposition does not support these amendments to the Act. It is unfortunate that the government has simultaneously used the bill to address inequities in the deeming rate, which administrative adjustment opposition senators do support. On balance the opposition must oppose the bill. If the bill is unsuccessful in the Senate, the government should immediately move to legislate the adjustment to the deeming rate as a matter of course.

#### Recommendation

**Opposition senators recommend that the Senate not pass the bill.** 

Senator Gavin Marshall Deputy Chair

<sup>63</sup> Australian Rail, Tram and Bus Industry Union, *Submission 4*, p. 14

<sup>64</sup> Communications Electrical Plumbing Union, Submission 24, p. 4.

<sup>65</sup> Australian Rail, Tram and Bus Industry Union, *Submission 4*, p. 2.

<sup>66</sup> Australian Manufacturing Workers' Union, *Submission 13*, p. 3.

# Appendix 1

# List of submissions

Sub No:	From:
1	Fitness Australia, NSW
2	Beyond Blue, Vic
3	Thales Australia, NSW
4	Australian Rail, Tram and Bus Industry Union, NSW
5	Mr Jeremy Coleman, ACT
6	Mr Nicholas Covey, ACT
7	Mr Ian Emery, QLD
8	Dr Gilbert Logan, ACT
9	Superannuated Commonwealth Officers' Association (Federal Council Inc), ACT
10	Pedal Power ACT Inc., ACT
11	Bicycle Federation of Australia, ACT
12	Mr Jeff Ibbotson, ACT
13	Australian Manufacturing Workers' Union, NSW
14	Australian Physiotherapy Association, Vic
15	Australian air Express, Vic
16	Community and Public Sector Union, NSW
17	Mental Health Council of Australia, ACT
18	Telstra, Vic
19	Law Council of Australia, ACT
20	Construction, Forestry, Mining, Energy Union, NSW
21	Australian Federation of Disability Organisations, Vic

32	
22	Department of Employment and Workplace Relations, ACT
23	Mr Ian Buchanan, ACT
24	Communications Electrical Plumbing Union, Vic
25	Community and Public Sector Union State Public Services Federation Group, NSW
26	The Australian Council of Trade Unions (ACTU)
27	The Australian Lawyers Alliance, NSW
28	Finance Sector Union of Australia

# **Appendix 2**

# Hearing and witnesses

# Victorian Parliamentary Offices, Melbourne, 30 – 31 January 2007

# **Communications Electrical Plumbing Union (CEPU)**

Ms Sharelle Herrington, Divisional Assistant Secretary

Australian Federation of Disability Organisations (AFDO) Ms Maryanne Diamond, Chief Executive Officer Ms Collette O'Neil, National Policy Officer

#### Superannuated Commonwealth Officers Association (SCOA) Mr. John Coleman, Federal Secretary

Mr John Coleman, Federal Secretary

# **Community and Public Sector Union (CPSU)**

Ms Sue Powell, Project Officer

# **CPSU – State Public Services Federation (SPSF)**

Mr David Perkins, Federal Industrial Officer

# Australian Council of Trade Unions (ACTU)

Mr Richard Donald Marles, Assistant Secretary Mr Jarrod Moran, Workers Compensation Officer

# Telstra

Mr Richard Coleman, Director, Health Safety & Environment Ms Jennifer Sirca, Legal Counsel

# Law Council of Australia

Mr Bill Redpath, Deputy Chair, Tort Law Working Group Mr Stuart Worsley, Member, Personal Injury Litigation Committee Mr Nick Parmeter, Policy Lawyer, Secretariat

# **Department of Employment and Workplace Relations (DEWR)**

Ms Sandra Parker, Group Manager Ms Melissa Ryan, Assistant Secretary, Commonwealth Safety and Compensation Policy Branch Mr Peter Southwood-Jones, Director, Safety, Rehabilitation and Compensation Act Team

#### Comcare

Ms Barbara Bennett, CEO Mr Steve Kibble, General Manager, Research & Policy Branch Mr Alex O'Shea, Director, Safety, Rehabilitation and Compensation Policy Section

# Parliament House, Canberra, 8 February 2007

#### Comcare

Ms Barbara Bennett, CEO Mr Alex O'Shea, Director, Safety, Rehabilitation and Compensation Policy Section